1993

West Valley City v. Dennis L. Streeter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(f) (Supp. 1992).

STATUTES, RULES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The fifth amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

[Criminal actions - Provisions concerning - Due process of law and just compensation clauses.]

No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in actual service in time of War or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; **nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself**, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

Emphasis added.

The sixth amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

[Rights of accused.]

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of counsel for his defense.

Emphasis added.

Article I, section 7 of the Utah Constitution provides:

Sec. 7. [Due process of law.]

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Article I section 12 of the Utah Constitution provides:

Sec. 12. [Rights of accused persons.]

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to be confronted by the witnesses against him, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district in which the offense is alleged to have been committed, and the right to appeal in all cases. In no instance shall any accused person, before final judgment, be compelled to advance money or fees to secure the rights herein guaranteed. The accused shall not be compelled to testify against himself; a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband, nor a husband against his wife, nor shall any person be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.

Emphasis added.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Whether police misconduct requires that David Streeter's statements be suppressed?

Standard of review - CORRECTION OF ERROR. Factual findings underlying the trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion to suppress evidence are reviewed using a clearly erroneous standard. The court's conclusions of law based on those facts are reviewed using a correctness standard. State v. Brown, 201 Utah Adv. Rep. 4, 6 (1992). The facts here are undisputed; the court's legal conclusions are reviewed for correctness. "[T]he trial court's ultimate conclusions concerning the waiver of defendant's Miranda rights, which conclusions were based upon essentially undisputed facts, in particular the transcript of [an officer's] colloquy with defendant, present questions of law reviewable under a correction-of-error standard." State v. Sampson, 808 P.2d 1100, 1103 (Utah App. 1990), cert. denied, 817 P.2d 327 (Utah 1991), and cert. denied, __ U.S. __, 112 S.Ct. 1282, 117 L.Ed.2d 507 (1992). "If the interrogation continues without the presence of an attorney and a statement is taken, a heavy burden rests on the government to demonstrate that the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his privilege against self-incrimination and his right to retained counsel." Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 475, 86 S.Ct. 1602, __, 16 L.Ed.2d 694, 724 (1966). "[A]ny evidence that the accused was threatened, tricked, or cajoled into a waiver will, of course,

show that the defendant did not voluntarily waive his privilege." Id. at 476, 16 L.Ed.2d at 725.

2. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that David Streeter knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel?

Standard of review - CORRECTION OF ERROR. See standard of review for issue number one.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

David Streeter was arrested in the early morning hours of September 22, 1990 as a result of certain alleged assaults that had occurred that morning. R. 228. He was interrogated by Detective Cowley, but invoked his right to counsel immediately upon being Mirandized. After some threatening statements by Detective Cowley, and three additional invocations of the right to counsel and silence by David, the interrogation was terminated. See transcript of interrogations, pp. 1-2, Exhibit 1 at the motion to suppress hearing (hereafter "Transcript").¹

The police took no action whatsoever with respect to David's request that his mother be telephoned to obtain counsel, or to obtain other counsel. R. 197:11-14, 201:25-202:8, 204:16-25.

¹A copy is attached as Addendum A. Although the transcript does not make it clear, the first two pages constitute the first interrogation. Page three begins the second interrogation, some two hours later. See R. 191-2.

Approximately two hours later, Detective Cowley was informed that David wanted to speak with him. R. 213, 215. David was not re-Mirandized. However, he did indicate that he desired to speak without counsel at that time. See Transcript, p. 3. David subsequently made incriminating statements. See Transcript, pp. 3-10.

David Streeter was initially charged with aggravated assault (Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103 (1990), 3rd degree felony), conspiracy (Utah Code Ann. § 76-4-201 (1990), class A misdemeanor), and assault (Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-102 (1990), class B misdemeanor). R. 8-10. An amended information charged him with three counts of attempted homicide (Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-4-101 and 76-5-203 (1990), 2nd degree felony), and one count of aggravated assault.

Mr. Streeter filed a motion to suppress his statements. R. 67-68, as amended, R. 71-2. This motion was heard on September 23 and 25, 1991. See transcript of suppression hearing, R. 181-257. The motion to suppress was denied. R. 111 (minute entry), R. 112-116 (memorandum decision).

Pursuant to a plea agreement, David pled guilty to aggravated assault, reserving his right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress pursuant to State v. Sery, 758 P.2d 935 (Utah

App. 1988). Counts II and III were dismissed.² See R. 161-7 (statement of defendant), R. 170 (minute entry).

Judge Jay E. Banks³ ordered a ninety day evaluation prior to sentencing. R. 171-2. David was sentenced to a prison term of 0 to 5 years, and ordered to pay restitution. R. 175.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

David Streeter⁴ was arrested in the early morning hours (5:15 A.M.) of Saturday, September 22, 1990. R. 18. At approximately 8:30-9:00 A.M., David was interrogated by Detective Cowley. R. 189-190. After being Mirandized, David immediately invoked his rights to silence and/or counsel:

²The parties appear to have been referring to the original information, rather than the amended information. This technical error is without import. The reference to aggravated assault as a lesser included offense shows the plea was contemplated with reference to the amended information, and the parties clearly intended a plea to aggravated assault committed against Craig Mortensen, with the other (severed) charges dismissed.

³Sitting by designation. R. 169.

⁴David, d.o.b. 9/14/72 (R. 6, 7, 8, etc.), was arrested less than 8 days after his eighteenth birthday. The record further discloses:

Mr. Streeter looks brighter than he is. He received a Beta II score [IQ] of 91, which places him in the lower part of the average range of intelligence. His school achievement scores are even worse. He reads at a fifth grade level, spells at the seventh grade level, and does arithmetic at the seventh grade level. He dropped out of high school in the eleventh grade . . . Psychological Evaluation, p. 1, attached to Diagnostic Evaluation Report (in court file in sealed envelope). This information obviously has direct bearing on David's ability to understand his rights, and make a knowing waiver of them.

TC⁵: Having these rights in mind do you wish to speak with us now without an attorney present?

DS⁶: No.

Transcript, p. 1. The interrogation was not terminated. Rather, Detective Cowley continued, attempted to cajole David into making a statement, and threatened him:

TC: You don't want to talk to us?

DS: I don't know why I am really even in here. All I was doing was sleeping over at my friends lawn last night and the cops just come ripping in the yard and arrested us and

TC: Well we have a bunch of questions we would like to ask you, would you be willing to answer those questions without a lawyer present [?]

DS: Maybe some of them. It just depends cause I really don't know why I am here.

TC: So does that mean we can ask you questions and you will answer the ones you want to answer?

DS: Yes[,] I have the right to stop at any time though.

TC: Well, I'll tell you right now that if you take that attitude with us.

DS: Well I ain't trying to

TC: Because we have all the witnesses we need and we know who has done what and who has done what to who. So I want the truth out of you and I want it now. Now do you understand that?

DS: Yes [.]

TC: Who were you with tonight [?]

Transcript, p. 1. David responded by reinvoking his right to counsel:

⁵Detective Cowley.

⁶David Streeter.

DS: Some of my friends, I want my lawyer here, all you have to do is call my mom and he will be down here.

TC: You want your attorney?

DS: Yes.

DS: And you don't want to talk to us?

DS: Yes.

TC: O.K.

Id. Only at this point, after four invocations of his constitutional rights, was the interrogation terminated. David was returned to a holding cell. R. 211-2.

Detective Cowley made no attempt to comply with David's request that his mother be telephoned to obtain counsel. R. 197:11-14. Detective Cowley did nothing to attempt to locate an attorney for David, and did nothing to attempt to have someone else obtain an attorney for him. R. 201:25-202:8, 204:16-25.

Two hours later, David broke down and informed Officer Robert Dey that he wanted to speak with Det. Cowley. Officer Dey took David to an interrogation room for this purpose. R. 230, 234.

Detective Cowley did not re-Mirandize David. R. 205:23-206:7, 217:14-23. The second interrogation proceeded:

TC: Do you recall earlier that I had advised you of your rights?

DS: Yes [.]

TC: And after being advised of your rights you said that you wanted to talk to a lawyer?

DS: Yes [.]

TC: Now it is your desire and you come forth voluntarily that you want to talk to me now?

DS: Yes [.]

TC: And you want to talk to me without a lawyer?

DS: Yes [.]

TC: Go ahead.

Transcript, p. 3. David thereafter made incriminating statements. See Transcript, pp. 3-10.

Pursuant to State v. Sery, 758 P.2d 935 (Utah App. 1988), David pled guilty to aggravated assault and now appeals the denial of his motion to suppress.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Detective Cowley illegally failed to honor David Streeter's invocation of rights. David indicated in unequivocal terms that he would not submit to interrogation without the presence of an attorney. This invocation was not scrupulously honored. Detective Cowley continued to interrogate, and attempted to cajole David into retreating from his position and into waiving his rights. David was threatened. Interrogation was not terminated until after David had invoked his rights for the fourth time. Finally, the police did nothing to comply with David's request that his mother be called to obtain his attorney. David was not given access to a telephone, and no call was made on his behalf. David's subsequent "initiation" of subsequent interrogation and purported "waiver" of his rights were the direct product of the prior taint of this police illegality. David's statements must be suppressed.

The totality of the circumstances do not support a conclusion that David knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his rights at the second interrogation. David was not re-Mirandized. His understanding of his rights was irreparably colored and tainted by Detective Cowley's failure to respect his rights. The State has failed to show that, subsequent to the police misconduct, David understood his rights correctly, or that he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived those rights. David's statements must be suppressed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. POLICE MISCONDUCT REQUIRES THAT DAVID STREETER'S STATEMENTS BE SUPPRESSED.

In Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966) the United States Supreme Court set forth a simple mandate for the protection of an accused's constitutional rights:

[W]ithout proper safeguards the process of in[-]custody interrogation of persons suspected or accused of crime contains inherently compelling pressures which work to undermine the individual's will to resist and to compel him to speak where he would not otherwise do so freely. In order to combat these pressures and to permit a full opportunity to exercise the privilege against self-incrimination, the accused must be adequately and effectively apprised of his rights and the exercise of those rights must be fully honored.

Id. at 467, 86 S.Ct. at ___, 16 L.Ed.2d at 719.

Once warnings have been given, the subsequent procedure is clear. If the individual indicates in any manner, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease. At this point he has shown that he intends to exercise

his Fifth Amendment privilege; any statement taken after the person invokes his privilege cannot be other than the product of compulsion, subtle or otherwise. Without the right to cut off questioning, the setting of in-custody interrogation operates on the individual to overcome free choice in producing a statement after the privilege has been once invoked. If the individual states that he wants an attorney, the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present. At that time, the individual must have an opportunity to confer with the attorney and to have him present during any subsequent questioning. If the individual cannot obtain an attorney and he indicates that he wants one before speaking to police, they must respect his decision to remain silent.

Miranda, 384 U.S. at 467, 86 S.Ct. at __, 16 L.Ed.2d at 719 (emphasis added, footnote omitted).

While in custody, the protections of Miranda attach to any interrogation on any subject. Mathis v. United States, 391 U.S. 1, 4-5, 88 S.Ct. 1503, __, 20 L.Ed.2d 381, 385 (1968). There can be no dispute that David Streeter was in custody. The record is undisputed that prior to and in between interrogations, David Streeter was detained in a holding cell. R. 228-30. See also R. 18 (indicating David was arrested at 5:15 A.M., over three hours prior to his interrogation).

A. THE POLICE FAILED TO "SCRUPULOUSLY HONOR"⁷ DAVID STREETER'S INVOCATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO COUNSEL AND SILENCE.

The police in this case failed to follow Miranda's simple mandate. When asked, "Having these rights in mind do you wish to speak with us now without an attorney present?", David responded

⁷See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S.Ct. 1602, __, 16 L.Ed.2d 694, 726 (1966).

with an emphatic "No." This clear, unequivocal invocation of constitutional rights was ignored by the police.

The police are entitled to clarification of an equivocal request for counsel. State v. Griffin, 754 P.2d 965, 969 (Utah App. 1988). David Streeter's response of "No." when asked "do you wish to speak with us now without an attorney present" was not in the least bit equivocal. Compare People v. St. Pierre, 522 N.E.2d 61, 66-8 (Ill. 1988) ("Q. Do you wish one [an attorney]? A. Yes." held unequivocal invocation, follow-up "clarification" could not render invocation ambiguous); see also Commonwealth v. Zook, 553 A.2d 920 (Pa), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 873, 110 S.Ct. 203, 107 L.Ed.2d 156 (1989), discussed infra at 12, 20. At most, there is a question whether David is invoking the right to counsel, the right to silence, or both. Regardless of which situation pertains, the police were obligated to immediately terminate the interrogation.

At the hearing on the motion to suppress, Detective Cowley tried to show that in fact the continuation of the interrogation was merely clarification:

A. [by Det. Cowley] I said, "Having these rights in mind, do you wish to speak to us now without having an attorney present?"

Q. And what was Mr. Streeter's response?

A. He said, "No."

Q. That answer was unequivocal, wasn't it?

A. That's right.

Q. It required no clarification, did it?

A. Well, in my mind it did.

Q. All right. Well, what words did he say, detective Cowley, after the word no that indicated to you that that was not [un]equivocal? What words?

A. Right after no? He didn't say anything.

Q. All right. So he indicated to you that he does not wish to go forward without an attorney being present, correct?

A. He said, "No."

Q. And he said nothing further; we have got that clear, right?

A. That's right.

Q. All right. And yet you continued with this interrogation, did you not?

A. I wanted to clarify and that's why I asked him the next question.

R. 195:2-25 (emphasis added).

No means no. The only point that could possibly be clarified was whether David had invoked the right to silence, the right to counsel, or both. In any instance, the police were required to terminate the interrogation.

The Transcript does not reveal David's initial invocation to be equivocal. Subsequent responses do not alter this result. "Under Miranda and Edwards, however, an accused's postrequest responses to further interrogation may not be used to cast doubt on the clarity of his initial request for counsel." Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S. 91, 92, 105 S.Ct. 490, ___, 83 L.Ed.2d 488, 491 (1984) (per curiam); accord Sampson, 808 P.2d at 1111 ("The fact that defendant continued to answer questions was not a sufficient indication that he was abandoning his right to counsel.").

Edwards set forth a "bright-line rule" that all questioning must cease after an accused requests counsel. Solem v. Stumes, 465 U.S. 638, 646, 104 S.Ct. 1338, 79 L.Ed.2d 579 (1984). In the absence of such a bright-line prohibition, the authorities through "badger[ing]" or "overreaching"--explicit or subtle, deliberate or unintentional--might otherwise wear down the accused and persuade him to incriminate himself notwithstanding his earlier request for counsel's assistance. Oregon v. Bradshaw, 462 U.S. 1039, 1044, 103 S.Ct. 2830, 77 L.Ed.2d 405 (1983); Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. [707,] 719, 99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197 [(1979)]. With respect to the waiver inquiry, we accordingly have emphasized that a valid waiver "cannot be established by showing only that [the accused] responded to further police-initiated custodial interrogation." Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. [477,] 484, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 [(1981)]. Using an accused's subsequent responses to cast doubt on the adequacy of the initial request *itself* is even more intolerable. "No authority, and no logic, permits the interrogator to proceed . . . on his own terms and as if the defendant had requested nothing, in the hope that the defendant might be induced to say something casting retrospective doubt on his initial statement that he wished to speak through an attorney or not at all." [People v. Smith,] 102 Ill.2d [365,] 376, 466 N.E.2d [236,] 241 [(1984)] (Simon, J., dissenting).

Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S. at 98-100, 105 S.Ct. at ___, 83 L.Ed.2d at 495-6 (footnote omitted).

Detective Cowley wasn't trying to clarify; rather, he was attempting to get David to recant his unequivocal invocation of constitutional rights:

TC: You don't want to talk to us?

DS: I don't really know why I am even in here. All I was doing was sleeping over at my friends lawn last night and the cops just come ripping in the yard and arrested us and

TC: Well we have a bunch of questions we would like to ask you, would you be willing to answer those questions without a lawyer present[?]^[8]

DS: Maybe some of them. It just depends cause I really don't know why I am here.

TC: So does that mean we can ask you questions and you will answer the ones you want to answer?

DS: Yes[,] I have the right to stop at any time though.

TC: Well, I'll tell you right now that if you take that attitude with us.

DS: Well I ain't trying to

TC: Because we have all the witnesses we need and we know who has done what and who has done what to who. So I want the truth out of you and I want it now. Now do you understand that?

DS: Yes [.]

TC: Who were you with tonight [?]^[9]

Transcript, p. 1.

This further questioning by the detective was not directed at clarification. Instead, he threatened David, and did his utmost to convince and persuade him to give a statement despite

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