1993

West Valley City v. Dennis Streeter : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Defendant entered a conditional guilty plea to aggravated assault, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103 (1990), in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, the Honorable John A. Rokich presiding. He appeals from the judgment and conviction entered on the plea. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(f) (Supp. 1994).

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Did alleged illegalities prior to defendant's invocation of his Miranda rights in his first interview taint defendant's confession in a second interview?

Standard of review. "In reviewing a trial court's determination on the voluntariness of a confession, [the appellate court will] apply a bifurcated standard of review. Under the bifurcated standard, the ultimate determination of whether a confession is voluntary is a legal question, and [the appellate court will] review the trial court's ruling for correctness. To the

extent the trial court has made subsidiary factual findings, however, those findings will not be set aside unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Mabe, 864 P.2d 890, 892 (Utah 1993) (citations omitted).

2. In the second interview, was defendant's waiver of his Fifth Amendment rights knowing and intelligent, and his confession voluntary?

Standard of review. See issue No. 1.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

This case does not turn on the language of any constitutional provisions, statutes, or rules.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant and two co-defendants¹ were charged by amended information with the following crimes:

- | | |
|------------------|---|
| Count I | Attempted criminal homicide, murder in the second degree, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (1990); |
| Count II | Aggravated assault, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103 (1990); |
| Count III | Attempted criminal homicide, murder in the second degree, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (1990); |
| Count IV | Attempted criminal homicide, murder in the second degree, a second degree felony, in violation of 76-5-203 (1990). |

¹ The co-defendants were Dustin Ward and Kevin Harry Neff (R. 11).

Gang enhancements pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203.1 (Supp. 1992) were sought in connection with counts III and IV; a firearms enhancement pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203 (1990) was sought in connection with count IV (R. 11-15, addendum A).

Defendant filed a motion to suppress his partial confession as violative of the Utah Constitution and the United States Constitution as construed in Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) and Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981) (R. 67-68, 71-72). The trial court denied this motion after an evidentiary hearing (R. 111-116).

Pursuant to a plea bargain, defendant pled guilty to aggravated assault, reserving his right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress under State v. Sery, 758 P.2d 935 (Utah App. 1988) (R. 161-67, 170).²

On March 1, 1993 defendant was sentenced to the statutory prison term, no fines, and restitution as determined by Adult Probation and Parole (R. 175). Defendant timely filed his Notice of Appeal (R. 177).

The court of appeals remanded to the trial court for entry of a finding as to whether the issue reserved for appeal was dispositive as then required by State v. Montoya, 858 P.2d 1027 (Utah App. 1993). State v. Streeter, 864 P.2d 910 (Utah App. 1993). The Utah Supreme Court granted certiorari in both Montoya and Streeter to consider the conditional guilty plea issue only. It ruled in Montoya that the issue reserved on a conditional guilty

² It is apparent from the plea affidavit and minute entry that the parties were referring to the original three-count information (R. 8-10) rather than the amended four-count information (R. 11-14) in structuring the plea. Neither the Statement of Defendant (R. 161-67) nor the minute entry (R. 170) recognizes the existence of a fourth count. The apparent intent of the parties was to dismiss all counts except the one to which defendant pled guilty.

plea need not be dispositive of the case. State v. Montoya, 253 Utah Adv. Rep. 68, 70 (Utah 1994). Accordingly, the supreme court remanded Streeter "to the court of appeals to consider the merits of Streeter's appeal in that court" (Remittitur dated 15 December 1994).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of two vicious gang attacks in the early morning hours of 22 September 1990.

THE CHARGED CRIMES³

First gang attack. According to the probable cause statement,⁴ a car driven by the Mortensen family was forced to the side of the road at approximately 6407 West 4100 South, West Valley City. Ten or more young men, including defendant, ran to the car and began kicking and beating on it and threatening to kill the four occupants. The driver, Craig Mortensen, managed to drive the car away and stopped at a nearby convenience store. As his wife Karen called 911, defendant and his co-defendant Neff approached the Mortensen's car carrying rocks and again threatening to kill the occupants. At that point,

Craig Mortenson [sic] grabbed a hammer from a tool box, stepped outside the car and stated, "I have the right to defend myself." Streeter and Neff attacked Craig Mortenson, beating on his head with a rock and kicking his face and head. While Karen Mortenson pulled one of the assailants away from Craig Mortenson the other ran at her with a rock. He was prevented from striking Karen Mortenson only by the intervention of one of the Mortenson's teen-age daughters.

³ Because this case arises from a guilty plea rather than a verdict, the State relies on the probable cause statement to inform the Court of the charges against defendant.

⁴ Karen Mortensen, a victim, is the source of the information on the first attack.

Craig Mortenson was rushed by Life Flight to the University Medical Center, where emergency surgery for a compound depressed skull fracture saved his life (R. 14).

Second gang attack. According to the probable cause statement,⁵ Mark Long and Roland Olsen were parked at a convenience store on 7204 West 3500 South, West Valley City. An argument arose between Olsen and Long in one truck and Dustin Ward and a group of juveniles in another truck. "Suddenly there were twelve or more young men in the parking lot," including defendant. A fight developed, and Olsen saw Streeter and his co-defendants "repeatedly jumping on and kicking Mark Long in the face and head." Long was lying on the ground at the time and, after the attack, was unconscious.

Olsen followed defendant and his co-perpetrators and confronted them about Long's condition.

David Streeter pulled a 22 semi-automatic pistol and threatened to blow Olsen's head off. Olsen turned and retreated while others chanted "shoot him, shoot him," [and] Dustin Ward was throwing rocks at Olsen. When Olsen was approximately twenty feet away from the group he heard the gun fire. A projectile landed near his feet. As he turned back around he was struck in the face by a tire iron. Then Kevin Neff struck him with a metal pipe.

Long's life was saved by emergency surgery on his fractured skull (R. 14-15).

DEFENDANT'S TWO INTERVIEWS

First interview. Detective Tracy Cowley interviewed defendant on 22 September 1990 at approximately 8:30 or 9:00 a.m. (R. 189-90). The interview was conducted at the station house and was tape-recorded (R. 190). The tape-recording was transcribed and appears as pages 1 and 2 of defendant's exhibit 1 (addendum B) (R. 191-92).

⁵ Roland Olsen, a victim, is the source of the information on the second attack.

Detective Cowley read defendant his Miranda rights, and defendant said he understood them (R. 194). The following exchange then ensued:⁶

TC: Having these rights in mind do you wish to speak with us now without an attorney present?

DS: No.

(Def. Ex. 1 at 1). Detective Cowley later testified that, in his mind, defendant's response "required clarification" (R. 195). Accordingly, in "an effort to further understand his previous statement" (R. 209), Detective Cowley continued the interview:

TC: You don't want to talk to us?

DS: I don't know why I am really even in here. All I was doing was sleeping over at my friends lawn last night and the cops just come ripping in the yard and arrested us and

TC: Well we have a bunch of questions we would like to ask you, would you be willing to answer those questions without a lawyer present.

DS: Maybe some of them. It just depends cause I really don't know why I am here.

TC: So does that mean we can ask you questions and you will answer the ones you want to answer?

DS: Yes I have the right to stop at any time through.

TC: Well, I'll tell you right now that if you take that attitude with us.

DS: Well I ain't trying to

TC: Because we have all the witnesses we need and we know who has done what and who has done what to who. So I want the truth out of you and I want it now. Now do you understand that?

DS: Yes

⁶ "TC" indicates Detective Tracy Cowley; "DS" indicates defendant David Streeter.

TC: Who were you with tonight[?]

DS: J.D.

TC: Who else?

DS: Some of my friends, I want my lawyer here, all you have to do is call my mom and he will be down here.

TC: You want your attorney?

DS: Yes

TC: And you don't want to talk to us?

DS: Yes

TC: O.K.

(Def. Ex. 1 at 1-2). Whereupon the interview concluded (R. 211). Detective Cowley did not attempt to locate an attorney for defendant (R. 202). Defendant was returned to the holding cell (R. 212).

Defendant's request. An hour to two hours later, Officer Robert Dey "was checking on cells again to see if people were, you know, physically all right, if they needed anything" (R. 205, 230). He asked defendant only "if he needed anything"; defendant stated "that he wanted to talk to the detective again" (R. 205, 213, 230).

Second interview. The second interview was recorded and transcribed and appears on pages 3 through 10 of defendant's exhibit 1 (addendum B). Officer Bruce Sterner was also present and asked a single question (R. 206-07).

Detective Cowley began by confirming that defendant recalled being Mirandized and desired to waive his rights:

TC: Do you recall earlier that I had advised you of your rights?

DS: Yes.

TC: And after being advised of your rights you said that you wanted to talk to a lawyer?

DS: Yes

TC: Now is it your desire [--] and you come forth voluntarily [--] that you want to talk to me now?

DS: Yes

TC: And you want to talk to me without a lawyer?

DS: Yes

TC: Go ahead.

(Def. Ex. 1 at 3, addendum B). Thereafter defendant gave a partial and self-serving, but nonetheless incriminating, description of his participation in the crimes. He said he threw a rock that hit Craig Mortensen and admitted kicking him in the chest; he also admitted kicking Mark Long in the head (*see* Def. Ex. 1 at 5-7, addendum B).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Defendant's dilemma in this case arises out of the fact of the two interviews. All the alleged police misconduct occurred in the first interview, but all the incriminating statements were made in the second interview, one to two hours later. He therefore must rely on "attenuation analysis" to demonstrate that alleged illegalities in the first interview "tainted" his confession in the second. Defendant's claim fails because only actual compulsion will taint a subsequent confession, and defendant cannot demonstrate actual compulsion.

2. Defendant's waiver of rights was knowing and intelligent, and his confession voluntary. After defendant terminated the first interview by invoking his rights, he initiated further conversation about the crime with police. Re-recitation of the Miranda warnings was unnecessary because defendant remembered the previous warnings and had demonstrated his understanding by actually exercising his Miranda rights. Police used no illegal or questionable tactics.

ARGUMENT⁷

INTRODUCTORY CLARIFICATIONS

A number of factual assertions in the Brief of Appellant are incorrect, misleading, or otherwise require clarification.

First, footnote 4 on page 6 of Brief of Appellant contains numerous factual assertions regarding defendant's age, IQ, and education. The source of these assertions is a psychological evaluation attached to a diagnostic evaluation report apparently prepared for sentencing purposes.

Although Utah has no rule, most appellate courts, in reviewing the denial of a pretrial motion to suppress evidence, will consider only evidence before the court at the suppression hearing. *See, e.g., United States v. Hicks*, 978 F.2d 722, 724-25 (D.C. Cir. 1992); *Baez v. State*, 425 S.E.2d 885, 890 (Ga. App. 1992); *State v. Ryder*, 315 N.W.2d 786, 788-89 (Iowa 1982); *Aiken v. State*, 647 A.2d 1229, 1232 (Md. App. 1994), *cert. denied*, 651 A.2d

⁷ Since "[n]o attempt has been made to brief state constitutional questions," the State will brief and this Court should consider "only the federal constitutional questions and decline to consider whether any state rights are implicated." *State v. Fulton*, 742 P.2d 1208, 1211 n.2 (Utah 1987), *cert. denied*, 484 U.S. 1044 (1988).

854 (Md. 1995); Commonwealth v. Powers, 398 A.2d 1013, 1014 (Pa. 1979); 4 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 11.1(c) (1987).

Some appellate courts will consider both pretrial and trial evidence in reviewing a pretrial ruling. However, courts endorsing this rule generally do so in the context of affirming the trial court's pretrial ruling. United States v. Muniz, 1 F.3d 1018, 1021-22 (10th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 114 S. Ct. 575 (1993); United States v. Martin, 982 F.2d 1236, 1239-40 n.2 (8th Cir. 1993); United States v. Basey, 816 F.2d 980, 983 n.1 (5th Cir. 1987); State v. Young, 576 So.2d 1048, 1054 n.1, 1055 (La. App. 1991); State v. Duncan, 879 S.W.2d 749, 751 (Mo. App. 1994). *Contra* State v. Kong, 883 P.2d 686, 688 (Hawaii App. 1994) (reversal).

This Court should not consider information unavailable to the district court at the suppression hearing for the purpose of reversing the court's ruling on the motion to suppress.

Second, repeated references to defendant's having "broken down," Br. of Appellant at 8, 18 n.13, 29, 33, are without support in the record or legal parlance. The record indicates merely that defendant spent an hour to two hours in a cell, during which time an officer "may have asked if he needed to go to the rest room or needed a drink of water, anything like that" (R. 231). When an officer "asked him if he needed anything," defendant said "that he wanted to talk to the detective again" (R. 230-31).

Utah courts have consistently used the term "broke down" or "break down" to mean more than making a simple request after being left alone for one to two hours. For example, Mares v. Hill, 118 Utah 484, 493-94, 222 P.2d 811, 815 (Utah 1950), *cert. denied*, 341 U.S. 933 (1951), refers to cases where "the prisoner broke down and confessed only after

days of long relays [sic] of questioning, wherein he was subjected to physical discomforts and disregard for the rudimentary need of life with fear and intimidations exerted, all of which were calculated to break his resistance." *See also State v. Young*, 780 P.2d 1233, 1237 (Utah 1989) (referring to "emotional courtroom outbursts, including instances where the defendant wept and a recess was called because it was not clear whether the defendant 'was going to break down'"); *State v. Hegelman*, 717 P.2d 1348, 1349 (Utah 1986) (after an officer "grabbed defendant . . . by the lapels, moved him sideways against a nearby filing cabinet, and called him a rapist," defendant "broke down and cried for a minute, composed himself, and then confessed to the crimes"); *State v. Johns*, 615 P.2d 1260, 1262 (Utah 1980) (victim "appeared emotionally distraught when she first entered the store and broke down completely and began to cry when the police arrived"); *State v. Pendergrass*, 803 P.2d 1261, 1263 (Utah App. 1990) ("defendant broke down crying"). This case involves none of the fear, intimidation, emotional outbursts, fisticuffs, or tears generally associated in this state with the term "broke down."

Third, defendant's repeated assertion that he was held "*incommunicado*," Br. of Appellant at 24 n.15, 29, 33, 34, is misleading. Defendant was kept in a holding cell with a "large . . . group of people" (R. 230-31). The period during which defendant claims to have been held "*incommunicado*" was at most two hours, hardly time to process and book the large number of people who were sharing his holding cell.

Fourth, the description of defendant as being "of a tender age," Br. of Appellant at 26, is misleading. Even assuming that defendant was 18 years old on the date of the attack, 18 is not "a tender age" as that term is used in Utah. *See, e.g., State v. Butterfield*, 784

P.2d 153, 154 (Utah 1989) (14 years); State v. Wilkerson, 612 P.2d 362, 365 (Utah 1980) (6 years); Thomas v. Union Pacific Railroad, 548 P.2d 621, 623 (Utah 1976) (22 months); State ex rel. Mullen, 29 Utah 2d 376, 377, 510 P.2d 531, 531 (Utah 1973) ("small children"); Baldwin v. Nielsen, 110 Utah 172, 178, 170 P.2d 179, 182 (Utah 1946) (Wolfe, J., dissenting) (4 years).

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